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SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is between Temple University – Of 

The Commonwealth System of Higher Education (“Temple”), OPE ID Number 00337100,  and 

the United States Department of Education (the “Department”) (each a “Party” and together the 

“Parties”). 

Recitals 

A. Temple is a nonprofit corporation organized and existing under the laws of the 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and is a state-related “institution of higher education” as defined 

in 20 U.S.C. 1001.  Temple participates as an “eligible institution” in the Federal student financial 

aid programs authorized by Title IV of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended, 20 U.S.C. 

§1001, et. seq. (the Title IV programs) and administered by the Department and is subject to 20 

U.S.C. § 1094. 

B. Upon determination, after reasonable notice and opportunity for a hearing, that an 

eligible institution has engaged in substantial misrepresentation of the nature of its educational 

program, 20 U.S.C. § 1094(c)(3)(A) authorizes the Department to suspend or terminate that 

institution’s participation in the  Title IV programs.  

C. Upon determination, after reasonable notice and opportunity for a hearing, that an 

eligible institution has engaged in substantial misrepresentation of the nature of its educational 

program, 20 U.S.C. § 1094(c)(3)(B) authorizes the Department to impose a civil penalty of up to 

$58,328 for each misrepresentation.  In determining the penalty for each misrepresentation, the 

Department must consider (a) the appropriateness of the penalty to the size of the institution of 

higher education and (b) the gravity of the misrepresentation.  20 U.S.C. § 1094(c)(3)(B)(ii).  In 

determining “gravity” the Department accounts for, inter alia, the number of affected students.  34 

C.F.R. § 668.93(b).  The Secretary’s discretion to determine a penalty amount is subject to the 
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Constitution’s prohibition of excessive fines “grossly disproportionate to the gravity of” the 

offense in question and to the Administrative Procedure Act’s reasoned basis requirement.  United 

States v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321, 334 (1998); Collins v. S.E.C., 736 F.3d 521, 526-27 (D.C. Cir. 

2013); see also Cooper Industries, Inc. v. Leatherman Tool Group, Inc., 532 US. 424, 434-35 

(2001).   

D. The Department has investigated Temple’s alleged submission of false information 

substantially misrepresenting the nature of certain of Temple’s educational programs in its Fox 

School of Business and Management (“Fox School”) to U.S. News and World Report for the 

purpose of inflating the rankings of those programs by that publication between 2014 and 2018 

(the “relevant time”).  The Department believes this information, including, inter alia, (1) the 

number of Fox School entrants providing GMAT scores as part of the application process, (2) the 

mean undergraduate GPAs of students admitted to certain programs offered by the Fox School, 

(3) the number of offers of admission extended by the Fox School to applicants, (4) the debt levels 

of Fox School students who borrowed loans to pay tuition, and (5) the ratio of full-time technology 

support personnel to supported faculty members at the Fox School, caused U.S. News and World 

Report to rank Temple’s online MBA and other programs substantially higher than it would have 

if Temple had provided accurate information.   

E. Consumers rely significantly on U.S. News and World Report and other third-party 

educational program quality rankings in choosing among educational institutions and providers.  

The Department believes that, to increase enrollment, grow revenue, and harm competitors, 

Temple’s Fox School knowingly, intentionally, and substantially misrepresented the nature of 

certain of its educational program by advertising the false rankings by U.S. News and World 

Report thousands of times via online portals, social media, fully wrapped buses and newsstands, 
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highway billboard signs, and advertisements at airport terminals, on trains, at train stations, in 

magazines, in newspapers, and on television and radio.  The Department believes this advertising 

wrongly increased Temple’s enrollment and revenue, deceived consumers, and unfairly harmed 

competitors.  

F. Temple has asserted that, after determining that inaccurate data had been submitted 

to U.S. News and World Report, it ceased providing inaccurate information in 2018, withdrew its 

online MBA and certain other programs from ranking consideration for 2018, and implemented 

significant measures to ensure that data misreporting does not recur.   

G. In December 2018, Temple paid $5.475 million to settle a class action lawsuit 

resulting in payouts of varying amounts up to approximately $5,000, depending on the program 

and credit hours attempted, to approximately 1,927 consumers. 

H. In December 2019, Temple settled an enforcement action by the Commonwealth 

of Pennsylvania Attorney General (the “Pennsylvania Settlement”) (Exhibit 1).  The Pennsylvania 

Settlement, among other things, required Temple to develop and fully implement standardized 

processes for the aggregation, collection, inspection, verification, and submission of data to 

rankings organizations; to establish and adequately staff a university-level office reporting to the 

Board of Trustees and dedicated to a rigorous data submission process to rankings organizations; 

to continue to retain an independent third-party auditor to monitor its data reporting practices; and 

to award $250,000 in new scholarships. 

I. Temple estimates its remediation costs total at least $17 million. 

J. The Department believes (1) each knowing and intentional submission of false 

information by Temple’s Fox School to U.S. News and World Report for the purpose of inflating 

Temple’s educational program ranking, and (2) each knowing and intentional republication by 
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Temple of a U.S. News and World Report ranking based on the false information Temple itself 

provided for the purpose of increasing enrollment and revenue, was a substantial misrepresentation 

of the nature of Temple’s educational program in violation of 20 U.S.C. § 1094(c)(3)(A) and (B).  

The Department also believes there is an evidentiary basis to compromise its potential legal claims 

for such violations and that settlement in lieu of litigation is in the public interest.  

K. Therefore, in consideration for the mutual promises and obligations set forth herein, 

the Parties agree as follows. 

Terms and Conditions 

1. Temple shall pay $700,000.00 as a civil penalty to settle all of the Department’s 

potential legal claims for substantial misrepresentation of the nature of Temple’s educational 

program under 20 U.S.C. § 1094(c)(3) arising from the facts and circumstances described in 

paragraphs D and E above during the relevant time.  Temple will pay the fine amount to the 

Department by FEDWIRE and in accordance with the Department’s instructions.  Temple will 

include the billing number AAA202101026 on the payment to ensure proper accounting.  

2. Conditioned upon Temple’s signature on this settlement agreement and full 

payment of the settlement amount, the Department fully and finally releases Temple from any civil 

claim the Department might have under 20 U.S.C. § 1094(c)(3) for the alleged conduct described 

in paragraphs D, E, and J during the relevant time.  However, Temple specifically acknowledges 

that this release does not include any claim by the Department for recoupment from Temple arising  

from the Department’s payment of borrower defense claims submitted by Federal student loan 

borrowers due to Temple’s alleged conduct as described in paragraphs D, E and J above during 

the relevant time.  This Agreement does not waive, compromise, restrict, or settle any other claims, 
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criminal or civil, by the Department or by the United States related to the alleged conduct described 

in paragraphs D, E, and J above during the relevant time.  

3. As a condition of this Agreement, Temple will comply with the Pennsylvania 

Settlement according to its terms.   

4. Temple admits no liability or wrongdoing.  

5. The persons signing this Agreement warrant they are fully authorized to do so and 

to bind their respective Parties to its terms. 

6. This is the Parties’ entire agreement regarding its subject matter, superseding all 

prior and contemporaneous discussions and understandings. Temple represents and acknowledges 

that, in executing this Agreement, it does not rely and has not relied on any representation or 

statement by the Department, its employees, attorneys, agents, or representatives with regard to 

the subject matter, basis, or effect of this Agreement.  

7. This Agreement has been drafted by both Parties and shall be construed and 

interpreted as if it were prepared by Temple and the Department if there is a dispute over its terms. 

Temple represents, warrants, and agrees that it has carefully read the Agreement and understands 

its meaning and has sought and received independent legal advice from an attorney of its choice 

with respect to the advisability of this Agreement and voluntarily and without duress or coercion 

signs this Agreement. 

8. Should any court declare a part, term, or provision of this Agreement is illegal or 

invalid, the rest of the Agreement’s parts, terms or provisions shall not be affected.  

9. The Parties agree that litigation concerning the potential violations of 20 U.S.C. § 

1094(c)(3) during the relevant time that are the subject of the Department’s investigation and this 

Agreement is no longer reasonably foreseeable.  Therefore, the parties are no longer required to 
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maintain a litigation hold to preserve documents, electronically stored information, or things 

related to this matter.  

10. The Parties will pay their own costs, attorneys’ fees, and other expenses.  

11. This Agreement is governed by the laws of the United States.  

12. This Agreement contains the entire agreement concerning the potential violations 

by Temple of 20 U.S.C. § 1094(c)(3) during the relevant time and supersedes and replaces all prior 

negotiations and statements concerning the alleged violations of 20 U.S.C. §1094(c)(3) by Temple 

during the relevant time.  Temple represents that the Department has made no promises, 

statements, inducements or commitments (other than as set forth herein) to Temple that caused 

Temple to sign this Agreement. 

13. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts by facsimile or digital 

signature, each of which shall be considered an original. 

 

Signatures on Following Page 
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UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION 

Signed: 

Printed: Reed D. Rubinstein 

Title: Principal Deputy General Counsel 
delegated the Authority and Duties of 
the General Counsel  

Dated:  November 25, 2020 

TEMPLE UNIVERSITY – OF THE COMMONWEALTH 
SYSTEM OF HIGHER EDUCATION 

Signed: 

Printed: 

Title: 

Dated: 

Vice President, CFO & Treasurer

Kenneth Kaiser

December 1, 2020
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